Simultaneous *In Vivo* Measurement of Dopamine, Serotonin and Ascorbate in the Striatum of Experimental Rats Using Voltammetric Microprobe

Samo B. Hocevar¹, Marko Zivin², Aleksandra Milutinovic³, Marko Hawlina⁴, Emily A. Hutton¹, and Bozidar Ogorevc¹

¹ Analytical Chemistry Laboratory, National Institute of Chemistry, Hajdrihova 19, SI-1001, Ljubljana, Slovenia, ² Institute of Pathophysiology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Ljubljana, Zaloška 4, SI-1000, Ljubljana, Slovenia, ³ Institute of Histology and Embryology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Ljubljana, Korytkova 2, SI-1000, Ljubljana, Slovenia, ⁴ Eye Clinic, University Medical Center, Zaloška 29, SI-1000, Ljubljana, Slovenia

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Abstract

- 2. Introduction
- 3. Materials and methods
 - 3.1. Apparatus
 - 3.2. Reagents and solutions
 - 3.3. Microelectrode fabrication and modification
 - 3.4. Animals and anesthesia
 - 3.5. Unilateral 6-hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA) lesions of the nigrostriatal pathway
 - 3.6. Surgery and stereotaxic implantation of the voltammetric microprobes
 - 3.7. Measurement procedures
- 4. Results and discussion

5. Conclusions

- 6. Acknowledgments
- 7. References

1. ABSTRACT

The in vivo performance of a voltammetric microprobe based on overoxidized poly(1,2phenylenediamine) coated carbon fiber microelectrode (OPPD/CFME), developed in our laboratory, is presented. For this purpose, an OPPD microprobe was stereotaxicaly implanted in the striatum of a deeply anesthetized Wistar rat for the simultaneous measurement of dopamine, serotonin and ascorbate. Furthermore, the post mortem levels of these physiologically important compounds were monitored after the rats were terminated with an overdose of anesthetic introduced through an indwelling jugular catheter. Using cyclic (CV) and square-wave (SWV) voltammetry, the OPPD/CFME was demonstrated to exhibit efficient separation of the voltammetric signals of dopamine, serotonin and ascorbate in the presence of biological matrix, with the SWV mode allowing more convenient detection regarding both sensitivity and selectivity. Explicit proof of in vivo dopamine detection at the OPPD/CFME was achieved via the absence of the

dopamine signal in rats with unilateral lesions of nigrostriatal dopaminergic neurons, which was induced by the use of the selective dopaminergic neurotoxin 6hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA). In stark contrast to nontreated rats, where a strong signal corresponding to $1.2 \mu M$ dopamine was measured at ca. 90 s after the rats' death, the signal for dopamine in dopamine-depleted striatum of 6-OHDA rats was absent. A critical comparison of the in vivo performance of the OPPD/CFME to that of bare and Nafion-coated carbon fiber microelectrodes, often used in neurophysiological studies, clearly showed a significant advantage of the former microprobe. The OPPD/CFME allowed multiple and repetitive in vivo measurements, along with pre- and post-measurement external calibration, with no loss in selectivity and an acceptable loss in sensitivity, indicating that the active sensing sites were not adversely blocked by the components of the extracellular fluid, thus affirming the great practical in vivo applicability of the OPPD microprobe.

2. INTRODUCTION

Since the first pioneering attempts to perform in vivo probing of brain neurotransmitters (1,2), there has been growing interest in the development of new methods capable of providing unequivocal results on their basal and evoked levels. Among different approaches, microdialysis, liquid chromatography, fluorescence, and, in particular, electrochemical detection have been proven to be the most convenient techniques, since they can be successfully adapted to such a challenging environment and auspiciously coupled with required tool miniaturization (3,4). Considerable efforts have been focused upon the preparation of different micro- and ultramicro-(bio)sensors that can be potentially employed for reliable in vivo probing, such as single cell measurements (5) and in particular brain probing, where the highly complex extracellular environment represents a considerable challenge for the selective detection of neurotransmitters (6). When the species of interest are electrochemically active, e.g. several neurotransmitters and other physiologically important biomolecules, advanced electrochemical techniques, in conjunction with micro- and ultramicro-sensors, impart possibilities for direct, spot measurements, and successfully address issues concerning sensitivity, selectivity, time resolution, stability, and in particular the sensor's overall dimensions (7-10).

The first direct electrochemical in vivo measurements of neurotransmitters (dopamine) were based on an unmodified graphite paste electrode, where both the selectivity and sensitivity represented crucial limitations (11). Following these ambitious early studies, many electrochemical sensors, which coupled the unique properties of microelectrodes with different modification routes and/or pretreatment strategies in order to enhance the sensors' overall performance were proposed, and among which the introduction of the carbon fiber microelectrode represented a significant contribution to in vivo studies (12). When detecting selected neurotransmitters, such as catecholamines dopamine, epinephrine the and norepinephrine, and serotonin, histamine etc., that are positively charged at physiological pH, their detection can be seriously obscured by several extracellular interferents with similar oxidation potentials. Among them, ascorbate, uric acid anionic biogenic metabolites 3 4dihydroxyphenylacetic acid (DOPAC), homovanillic acid and 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid (5-HIAA) are well-known as ubiquitous interferents when probing the aforementioned neurotransmitters (2,3). To enhance temporal resolution and to overcome undesirable effects arising from some of the interferents, the application of fast cyclic voltammetry in connection with a carbon fiber microelectrode was proposed (13,14). To improve the sensitivity and selectivity, several authors have suggested the electrochemical pre-anodization of the electrode surface (15,16), laser activation (17), the application of semipermeable membranes and other modifiers (18-21), the introduction of new carbon electrode materials such as graphite reinforced with carbon (22) and very recently, carbon nanotubes (23-28). Negatively charged Nafion as a semi-permeable membrane has also been used for this purpose to suppress signals originating from negatively charged and some neutral chemical interferents, and to enhance the sensitivity (29-32). Despite all of these efforts, challenges still remain, in particular concerning direct, simultaneous *in vivo* measurements of several (bio)molecules of interest, and problems associated with the sensitivity, stability, etc. (21,22,24).

When probing neurotransmitters in vivo, it is of great importance to maintain/induce their release under certain control using different protocols. In general, their release can be induced electrically or chemically (9,31,32,33), while in conscious freely-moving animals fluctuations above basal levels may be related to the ongoing behavior. There are also some reports describing a massive release of dopamine and other biogenic amines in ischemic states, such as stroke or anoxia (34,35) and could thus also be detected immediately after death (36,37). The post mortem increase in the concentration level of dopamine in the brain has been attributed to its massive release due to the low energy state, diminished uptake in presynaptic terminals and reduced degradation due to reduced monoamine-oxidase activity (37). Dopamine, but not serotonin overflow induced in terminal regions, such as the striatum, by ischemic conditions (38) or dopamine overflow after intoxication by amphetamines (2,39) may significantly contribute to neurodegenerative changes. Furthermore, the extracellular fluid of the striatum contains a high level of ascorbate, an antioxidant vitamin known to have neuroprotective properties in experimental models of excitotoxic neurological disorders, including stroke, Huntington's disease, convulsive behavior and reactive species-related damage (40,41).

Recently, we proposed the preparation of the overoxidized poly(1,2-phenylenediamine) coated carbon fiber microelectrode (OPPD/CFME) for simultaneous measurement of dopamine and ascorbate at their physiological levels, under in vitro conditions (42). This voltammetric microprobe exhibited favorable performance characteristics with regard to selectivity and sensitivity towards dopamine and ascorbate. In the present study, we have expanded its scope and introduced the application of the OPPD/CFME to direct in vivo measurement of dopamine, serotonin and ascorbate in the striatum of deeply anesthetized rats, before and after the death of the experimental animals. The aim of the experiments was to evaluate the in vivo performance of the microprobe, including calibration, to make a critical comparison with the in vivo performance of bare and Nafion-coated carbon fiber microelectrodes that are often used in neurophysiological studies, and to examine the suitability of its reuse under in vivo and post mortem conditions.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1. Apparatus

Cyclic (CV) and square-wave voltammetry (SWV) measurements were performed using an electrochemical workstation (Autolab PGSTAT12, Eco Chemie, Utrecht, The Netherlands) driven by GPES 4.9 software (Eco Chemie). For *in vivo* and *in vitro* experiments, a three-electrode configuration was employed consisting of either an overoxidized poly(1,2-phenylenediamine) (OPPD)- or a Nafion-coated or bare carbon fiber microelectrode (CFME) as the working electrode, with an AgCl coated silver wire pseudo-reference electrode for *in vivo* measurements or an Ag/AgCl/(KCl satd.) reference electrode in the case of *in vitro* measurements, while a platinum wire served as the counter electrode. *In vitro* experiments were carried out in a voltammetric cell at room temperature (23 ± 2 °C).

3.2. Reagents and solutions

Dopamine, L-ascorbic acid, and serotonin were supplied by Sigma and their respective standard solutions were prepared daily in 0.05 M phosphate buffer solution (pH 7.4), which also served as the supporting electrolyte in all *in vitro* measurements. Phosphate buffer solution was prepared by mixing appropriate amounts of di-potassium hydrogen phosphate and potassium di-hydrogen phosphate, both provided by Sigma, to obtain the desired pH value. All chemicals employed in this work were of analytical grade and used as received. Water used to prepare all solutions throughout the work was purified via an Elix10/Milli-Q Gradient unit (Millipore, Bedford, USA).

3.3. Microelectrode fabrication and modification

The fabrication of the substrate cylinder carbon fiber microelectrodes was accomplished by direct thermal sealing of a single carbon fiber (diameter 7 μ m, Goodfellow Co., Oxford, UK) into a glass capillary tube employing a microelectrode puller (PP-830, Narishige, Tokyo, Japan) with final carbon fiber tip length of ca 0.5 mm. Some other details are given elsewhere (43). Optical inspections of the fabricated microelectrodes were accomplished using an inverted microscope (Eclipse, Nikon, Tokyo, Japan) equipped with a digital camera (Pixera, Los Gatos, CA).

An OPPD/CFME was prepared by electrochemical modification of a carbon fiber microelectrode in 0.05 M phosphate buffer solution (pH 7.0) containing 5 mM 1,2phenylenediamine monomer (Sigma) and 0.1 M sodium dodecyl sulfate (Sigma) at +0.8 V for 20 min, followed by electrochemical overoxidation in a 0.05 M phosphate buffer solution (pH 7.0) by cycling the potential between 0.0 and +2.2 V at a scan rate of 10 V/s, for 50 cycles. Details regarding the OPPD microprobe preparation are given in our previous report (42). A Nafion-coated carbon fiber microelectrode was prepared by carrying out three consecutive dipping/drying cycles of a bare CFME in the Nafion solution, as described elsewhere (31). The Ag/AgCl pseudo-reference electrode was prepared by anodizing a silver wire (diameter 0.5 mm) in a 0.1 M HCl solution for 1 min at +1.0 V.

3.4. Animals and anesthesia

For the *in vivo* experiments in this work female Wistar rats weighing between 150 and 200 g were used. They were maintained on a 12 h light-dark cycle (light on: 07.00 - 19.00) in a temperature-controlled colony room at 22 - 24 °C with free access to rodent pellets and tap water. They were handled according to the National Veterinary Institute Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals.

The animals were anesthetized with the i.p. injection of 2% xylazine hydrochloride (8 mg/kg; Rompun, Bayer, Leverkusen, Germany) and ketamine hydrochloride (60 mg/kg; Ketanest, Parke Davies, Vienna, Austria). For the *post mortem* measurements, the rats were terminated with 0.5 mL of anesthetic injected through the intrajugular catheter.

3.5. Unilateral 6-hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA) lesions of the nigrostriatal pathway

The animals were placed in a stereotaxic frame (TrentWells, South Gate, CA) and 6-hydroxydopamine hydrobromide (8 μ g of free base dissolved in 0.9 % saline containing 0.02 % ascorbic acid; RBI, Natick, MA) was infused at a rate of 1 μ L/min over 4 min into the right medial forebrain bundle (MFB) at the following coordinates: 3 mm anterior from lambda, 1.2 mm lateral from the midline and 7.3 mm ventral from the surface of the dura (44). At each injection site the cannula was left in place for 2 min before retraction.

To assess the development of nigrostriatal degeneration, the apomorphine test was performed by treating the 6-OHDA lesioned animals with a directly acting mixed agonist of dopamine receptors apomorphine (0.5 mg/kg, *s.c.*) in the sixth post-operative week. Turning response was recorded by placing the rats in plastic cylindrical chambers (40 cm diameter) of the Lablinc automated rotometer system (Colbourn Instruments, Allentown, PA). Only the 6-OHDA rats that responded with peak turning frequency of at least 7 contralateral turns per minute were used in subsequent experiments.

3.6. Surgery and stereotaxic implantation of the voltammetric microprobes

Chronic indwelling jugular catheters (i.d. 0.5 mm, o.d. 1.0 mm) composed of a Silastic internal part (30 mm; Dow Corning Corporation, Midland, MI) and a polyurethane external part (90 mm; Micro-Renathane; Braintree Scientific, Braintree, MA) were implanted 5 days before stereotaxic implantation of the microprobes. The rats were deeply anesthetized, the right external jugular vein was isolated and the Silastic part of the catheter inserted through the vein into the right atrium. It was fixed to the jugular vein with a single stitch, and with another stitch to the underlying neck muscle. The external part of the catheter was passed subcutaneously to exit at the back of the neck area. At the exit the catheter was stoppered with an adapted needle (Microlance 3, 22G2, BD Medical Systems, Drogheda, Ireland). To maintain patency, 0.2 mL sterile saline containing heparin 500 IU/100 mL and gentamycin 12 mg/100 mL were injected daily through the catheter.

For the stereotaxic placement of the OPPD microprobes, the rats were deeply anesthetized and immobilized in a stereotaxic frame. The skull was then surgically exposed and a small diameter trepanation hole



Figure 1. Square-wave voltammograms obtained at OPPD microprobe in the striatum of an anesthetized rat before (dashed line) and approx. 90 s after (solid line) death. SWV settings, potential scan from -0.2 to +0.7 V with a frequency of 10 Hz, potential step of 10 mV and pulse amplitude of 50 mV.



Figure 2. Cyclic voltammograms obtained at OPPD microprobe in the striatum of an anesthetized rat before (dashed line) and approx. 90 s after (solid line) death. CV settings, cyclic potential scan from -0.4 to +0.7 V at a scan rate of 100 mV/s.

was drilled into the skull for microprobe implantation. The OPPD/CFME was inserted, using a micromanipulator, in the caudate putamen at the following coordinates: 0.5 mm anterior from bregma, 3.0 mm lateral from the midline and 4.8 mm ventral from the surface of the dura. The Ag/AgCl pseudo reference and the platinum counter electrodes were placed under the skin of the scalp.

3.7. Measurement procedures

In vivo measurements were performed using either CV or SWV modes with the potential usually scanned from -0.4 to +0.7 V. The SWV operational setting was: frequency of 10 Hz, potential step of 10 mV and pulse amplitude of 50 mV, while in the CV mode a scan rate of 100 mV/s was applied. No microprobe cleaning was required between the successive *in vivo* runs. *In vitro* measurements were carried out in a quiescent 0.05 M phosphate buffer solution (pH 7.4) in the presence of dissolved oxygen with the same operational settings as those used for *in vivo* measurements.

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

To examine the suitability of the proposed OPPD/CFME for direct voltammetric in vivo probing we first performed measurement of, as an example, released dopamine after the rats were terminated with an overdose of anesthetic, along with the concomitant monitoring of serotonin and ascorbate. Figure 1 shows square-wave voltammograms obtained in the striatum of an anaesthetized rat before (dashed line) and after (solid line) the death. The substantial release of dopamine, recorded approximately 90 s post mortem, can be clearly seen at ca. 0.20 V, whereas the level of ascorbate (at ca. -0.06 V) remained practically unchanged, while the voltammetric response to the basal level of serotonin (at ca. 0.30 V) slightly decreased after death with the signal partially overlapping with that corresponding to dopamine. Evidently, neither electrochemically active nor passive components of the present biological matrix interfered with the direct in vivo voltammetric imaging using the OPPD microprobe under the applied conditions. The post mortem increase of dopamine level has previously been observed, but has not been studied thoroughly using direct electrochemical probing (36,37). The observed massive release of dopamine was attributed to the coincident impaired uptake of dopamine and reduced monoamineoxidase activity (37). In order to gain additional insight into the OPPD/CFME characteristics under in vivo conditions cyclic voltammetry was also used yielding, as expected (42), lower current responses to the species in focus but, on the other hand, giving raw current-voltage recordings. Cyclic voltammetry recordings presented in Figure 2 again revealed an increased *post mortem* dopamine concentration level (solid line) and exposed the known redox behavior of dopamine with a mid-potential at ca. 0.13 V, which shows a high degree of reversibility also under in vivo conditions. Cyclic voltammetry recordings clearly confirmed the practical insensitivity of the OPPD microprobe with respect to the extracellular fluid matrix.

To unequivocally verify the in vivo measurement of dopamine employing the OPPD microprobe, we conducted specific experiments using rats with unilateral lesions with 6-OHDA, which are devoid of dopamine on the lesioned side of brain. Figure 3A shows post mortem voltammograms recorded with the cyclic same OPPD/CFME consecutively in both the intact (solid line) and lesioned (dashed line) striatum. While the voltammogram obtained in the intact striatum exhibited a current signal originating from a substantial increase of the dopamine level, the voltammogram recorded in the dopamine depleted striatum did not exhibit any signal corresponding to dopamine. In addition, after the recordings displayed in figure 3A were completed, the



Figure 3. Cyclic voltammograms all recorded at the same OPPD microprobe (A) *post mortem* in the intact (solid line) and lesioned (dashed line) striatum, (B) *post mortem* after the microprobe was positioned back into the intact striatum (solid line), and (B) *pre mortem* in the intact region (dashed line) of the same anesthetized rat. Other conditions as in figure 2.



Figure 4. Cyclic voltammograms obtained *post mortem* in rat striatum at a bare carbon fiber microelectrode (thick solid line), at a Nafion-coated carbon fiber microelectrode (solid line), and at an OPPD/CFME (dashed line). Other conditions, as in figure 2.

OPPD microprobe was immediately transferred back into the intact striatum, where the signal for dopamine was again clearly recorded, as can be seen in figure 3B (solid line). For comparison, in figure 3B a *pre mortem* cyclic voltammogram (dashed line) recorded in the intact region employing the same microprobe, is also shown. A slight positive potential shift of the signal corresponding to dopamine in comparison to that in figure 3A is attributed to the *post mortem* change of pH (37). These results not only incontrovertibly proved the *in vivo* measurement of dopamine using the OPPD microprobe but also demonstrated the capability of repetitive usage of the OPPD microprobe under *in vivo* conditions, with no apparent memory effect.

An important aim of this work was to critically compare the OPPD microprobe with the in vivo voltammetric performance of bare and Nafion-coated carbon fiber microelectrodes, which are often used in neurophysiological studies, under the same conditions. The results of this comparison are displayed in Figure 4. As can be clearly seen, the bare carbon fiber microelectrode (thick solid line) exhibited a relatively low and poor voltammetric response accompanied with a high background contribution along with a lack of selectivity. The current signal appearing at potentials around 0.2 V is broad, evidently encompassing the current contributions originating from all three analytes and possibly some other potentially present electrochemically active compounds (e.g. metabolites). The response obtained at the Nafion-coated carbon fiber microelectrode (solid line) is higher in comparison to that obtained at the bare carbon fiber microelectrode, but still significantly lower when compared to that obtained at the OPPD/CFME (dashed line). The current signal obtained at the Nafion-coated microelectrode is attributed mainly to dopamine. This is supported by a reversible-like behavior and the fact that the Nafion membrane is negatively charged and thus rejects anionic species, such as ascorbate, and at the same time has the ability to preconcentrate cationic species, such as dopamine (23,32). In contrast, the OPPD microprobe exhibits three separate signals (dashed line) corresponding to ascorbate, dopamine and serotonin, as described above, together with significantly enhanced sensitivity. This comparison of the three voltammetric microprobes that vary in surface design clearly demonstrated the in vivo operational advantage of the proposed OPPD/CFME, in terms of both important sensing parameters - selectivity and sensitivity. Moreover, these results also illustrate that in vivo measurements of dopamine using unpretreated bare carbon fiber microelectrodes might be questionable when performed under the same or similar conditions as applied in this work.

The calibration of a microprobe is considered to be a critical point in evaluating the concentration levels of an analyte in focus, measured under *in vivo* conditions. Therefore, we also preliminarily examined the possibility of calibrating the OPPD/CFME, in order to estimate the levels of e.g. *post mortem* dopamine. We first performed *in vitro* pre-calibration of the OPPD microprobe, then



Figure 5. Square-wave voltammograms obtained at the same OPPD/CFME in (A) *post mortem* striatum of an overanesthetized rat, (B) pre-calibration solution for 300 nM dopamine and 250 nM serotonin, and (C) post-calibration solution, after the *in vivo* measurement, for 300 nM dopamine. Pre- and post-calibration solution: 0.05 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.4); potential scan: from -0.4 to +0.7 V. Other conditions as in figure 1.

conducted in vivo measurements, and finally performed in vitro post-calibration, all with the same OPPD microprobe. The voltammograms of this three-step procedure, presented in figure 5, were obtained in the striatum of an overanesthetized rat (A), in pH 7.4 phosphate buffer solution with 300 nM dopamine and an addition of 250 nM serotonin (B), and again for in vitro post-calibration with 300 nM dopamine (C). Serotonin was added (B) to illustrate the selectivity feature of the OPPD/CFME for dopamine and serotonin before its first in vivo application. On the basis of this calibration protocol, the *post mortem* dopamine level was quantified to be approximately 1.2 uM. which is consistent with earlier observations and predictions (36,37,45). We also estimated that the basal dopamine level in the striatum of deeply anesthetized rats, from SWV measurements as e.g. shown in figure 1, was below ca. 25 nM, i.e. below the limit of detection of the OPPD microprobe, and such a low level might be a consequence of the effect of the applied anesthetic. As can be seen from figure 5 (C), the post-calibration voltammogram revealed that the shape of the dopamine signal after the in vivo measurements, in comparison to that from the pre-calibration voltammogram (B), remained practically unchanged with only a slight decrease in the signal height. This may be ascribed to a limited fouling activity of some present matrix components such as lipids and/or proteins, but it apparently did not affect the overall performance of the OPPD microprobe. Although certain sophisticated but potentially important parameters of "in vivo" voltammetric calibration, such as temperature difference compensation and in vitro biological matrix simulation, were not taken into account in this preliminary calibration protocol examination, these experiments clearly illustrated the advantageous characteristics of the OPPD microprobe in its capability to perform multiple and repetitive *in vivo* measurements in combination with the pre- and post-calibration protocol. This is extremely important for *in vivo* measurements, where the standard addition method is not possible.

5. CONCLUSIONS

In this work the favorable performance of the OPPD microprobe for direct, simultaneous, in vivo measurement of selected neurotransmitters dopamine and serotonin, together with ascorbate, is presented. Using cyclic and square-wave voltammetry detection modes, the apparent insensitivity of the OPPD/CFME to real biological matrix was demonstrated with in vivo measurements of these compounds in the brain of experimental rats and the post mortem measurements revealed a massive release of dopamine while serotonin and ascorbate striatal concentrations were practically unchanged. In a critical comparison, the superior in vivo performance of the OPPD microprobe over bare and Nafion-coated carbon fiber microelectrodes was shown, allowing its multiple/repetitive in vivo application without significant loss in sensitivity and selectivity. In addition, a preliminary pre- and postcalibration protocol was established, which revealed the minor effects of the extracellular matrix upon the microprobe overall performance. Further in vivo use of the OPPD microprobe in freely movable rats and in some neurophysiological studies is considered and in progress.

6. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Financial support from the Slovenian Research Agency (P1-0034 and Z1-6370) is gratefully acknowledged.

7. REFERENCES

1. Kissinger P. T., J. B. Hart & R. N. Adams: Voltammetry in brain tissue-a new neurophysiological measurement. *Brain Res* 55(1), 209-213 (1973)

2. Wightman R. M., L. J. May & A. C. Michael: Detection of Dopamine Dynamics in the Brain. *Anal. Chem* 60(13), 769 A-779 A (1988)

3. Venton B. J. & R. M. Wightman: Psychoanalytical Electrochemistry: Dopamine and Behavior. *Anal. Chem* 75(19), 414 A-421 A (2003)

4. Virag L. & R. A. Whittington: Highly sensitive chromatographic assay for dopamine determination during *in vivo* cerebral microdialysis in the rat. *J. Chromatogr B* 772, 267-272 (2002)

5. Zhang X., B. Ogorevc, M. Rupnik, M. Kreft & R. Zorec: Cathophoresis paint insulated carbon fibre ultramicro disc electrode and its application to *in vivo* amperometric monitoring of quantal secretion from single rat melanotrophs. *Anal. Chim. Acta* 378(1-3), 135-143 (1999) 6. Zhang W., X. Cao, Y. Xian, Q. Xu, S. Zhang & L. Jin: New microdialysis-electrochemical device for simultaneous determination of ascorbic acid and 5-hydroxyindole-3-acetic acid in rat striatum. *Anal. Chim. Acta* 458(2), 337-344 (2002)

7. Zoski C. G.: Ultramicroelectrodes: Design, fabrication, and characterization. *Electroanalysis* 14(15-16), 1041-1051 (2002)

8. Zhang X., W. Zhang, X. Zhou & B. Ogorevc: Fabrication, Characterization, and Potential Application of Carbon Fiber Cone Nanometer-Size Electrodes. *Anal. Chem* 68(19), 3338-3343 (1996)

9. Dressman S. F., J. L. Peters & A. C. Michael: Carbon fiber microelectrodes with multiple sensing elements for *in vivo* voltammetry. *J. Neurosci. Meth* 119(1), 75-81 (2002)

10. Rebec G. V., P. E. Langley, R. C. Pierce, Z. Wang & B. A. Heidenreich: A simple micromanipulator for multiple uses in freely moving rats: electrophysiology, voltammetry, and simultaneous intracerebral infusions. *J. Neurosci. Meth* 47(1-2), 53-59 (1993)

11. Adams R. N.: Probing Brain Chemistry with Electroanalytical Techniques. *Anal. Chem* 48(14), 1126 A-1138 A (1976)

12. Gonon F., R. Cespuglio, J. L. Ponchon, M. Buda, M. Jouvet, R. N. Adams & J. F. Pujol: *In vivo* electrochemical determination of dopamine release in rat neostriatum. *Comptes Rendus* 286(16), 1203-1206 (1978)

13. Stamford J. A., Z. L. Kruk, J. Millar & R. M. Wightman: Striatal dopamine uptake in the rat - *in vivo* analysis by fast cyclic voltammetry. *Neurosci. Lett* 51(1), 133-138 (1984)

14. Millar J., J. A. Stamford, Z. L. Kruk & R. M. Wightman: Electrochemical, pharmacological and electrophysiological evidence of rapid dopamine release and removal in the rat caudate-nucleus following electrical-stimulation of the median forebrain-bundle. *Eur. J. Pharm* 109(3), 341-348 (1985)

15. Gonon F., M. Buda, R. Cespuglio, M. Jouvet & J. F. Pujol: *In vivo* electrochemical detection of catechols in the neostriatum of anaesthetized rats: dopamine or DOPAC. *Nature* 286(5776), 902-904 (1980)

16. Crespi F., T. G. England & D. G. Trist: Simultaneous, selective detection of catecholaminergic and indolaminergic signals using cyclic voltammetry with treated micro-sensor. *J. Neurosci Meth* 61(1-2), 201-212 (1995)

17. Poon M. & R. L. McCreery: *In situ* laser activation of glassy-carbon electrodes. *Anal. Chem* 58(13), 2745-2750 (1986)

18. Zhang X., B. Ogorevc, G. Tavčar & I. Grabec Švegl: Over-oxidized polypyrrole-modified carbon fibre ultramicroelectrode with an integrated silver/silver chloride reference electrode for the selective voltammetric measurement of dopamine in extremely small sample volumes. *Analyst* 121(12), 1817-1822 (1996)

19. Pihel K., Q. D. Walker & R. M. Wightman: Overoxidized Polypyrrole-Coated Carbon Fiber Microelectrodes for Dopamine Measurements with Fast-Scan Cyclic Voltammetry. *Anal. Chem* 68(13), 2084-2089 (1996)

20. Ghita M. & D. W. M. Arrigan: Dopamine voltammetry at overoxidised polyindole electrodes. *Electrochim. Acta* 49(26), 4743-4751 (2004)

21. Jin G., X. Lin & J. Gong: Novel choline and acetylcholine modified glassy carbon electrodes for simultaneous determination of dopamine, serotonin and ascorbic acid. *J. Electroanal. Chem* 569(1), 135-142 (2004)

22. Miyazaki K., G. Matsumoto, M. Yamada, S. Yasui & H. Kaneko: Simultaneous voltammetric measurement of nitrite ion, dopamine, serotonin with ascorbic acid on the GRC electrode. *Electrochim. Acta* 44(21-22), 3809-3820 (1999)

23. Hočevar S. B., J. Wang, R. P. Deo, M. Musameh & B. Ogorevc: Carbon Nanotube Modified Microelectrode for Enhanced Voltammetric Detection of Dopamine in the Presence of Ascorbate. *Electroanalysis* 17(5-6), 417-422 (2005)

24. Wang Z., Q. Liang, Y. Wang & G. Luo: Carbon nanotube-intercalated graphite electrodes for simultaneous determination of dopamine and serotonin in the presence of ascorbic acid. *J. Electroanal. Chem* 540, 129-134 (2003)

25. Wang Z., J. Liu, Q. Liang, Y. Wang & G. Luo: Carbon nanotube-modified electrodes for the simultaneous determination of dopamine and ascorbic acid. *Analyst* 127(5), 653-658 (2002)

26. Wang J., R. P. Deo, P. Poulin & M. Mangey: Carbon nanotube fiber microelectrodes. J. Am. Chem. Soc 125(48), 14706-14707 (2003)

27. Britto P. J., K. S. V. Santhanam & P. M. Ajayan: Carbon nanotube electrode for oxidation of dopamine. *Bioelectrochem. Bioenerg* 41(1), 121-125 (1996)

28. Chen R. S., W. H. Huang, H. Tong, Z. L. Wang & J. K. Cheng: Carbon fiber nanoelectrodes modified by single-walled carbon nanotubes. *Anal. Chem* 75(22), 6341-6345 (2003)

29. Gerhardt G. A., A. F. Oke, G. Nagy, B. Moghaddam & R. N. Adams: Nafion-coated electrodes with high selectivity for CNS electrochemistry. *Brain Res* 290(2), 390-395 (1984)

30. Capella P., B. Ghasemzadeh, K. Mitchell & R. N. Adams: Nafion-coated carbon-fiber electrodes for neurochemical studies in brain-tissue. *Electroanalysis* 2(3), 175-182 (1990)

31. Zimmerman J. B. & R. M. Wightman: Simultaneous electrochemical measurements of oxygen and dopamine *in vivo. Anal. Chem* 63(1), 24-28 (1991)

32. Wiedemann D. J., K. T. Kawagoe, R. T. Kennedy, E. L. Ciolkowski & R. M. Wightman: Strategies for low detection limit measurements with cyclic voltammetry. *Anal. Chem* 63(24), 2965-2970 (1991)

33. Cahill P. S. & R. M. Wightman: Simultaneous amperometric measurement of ascorbate and catecholamine secretion from individual bovine adrenal-medullary cells. *Anal. Chem* 67(15), 2599-2605 (1995)

34. Phebus L. A., K. W. Perry, J. A. Clemens & R. W. Fuller: Brain anoxia releases striatal dopamine in rats. *Life Sci* 38(26), 2447-2453 (1986)

35. Richards D. A., T. P. Obrenovitch, L. Symon & G. Curzon: Extracellular dopamine and serotonin in the rat striatum during transient ischaemia of different severities: a microdialysis study. *J. Neurochem* 60(1), 128-136 (1993)

36. Takahashi A., Y. Ikarashi, H. Ishimaru & Y. Maruyama: Dopamine output upon death reflects intraneuronal aspects while alive: accumulation of releasable dopamine during tetrodotoxin perfusion. *Neurosci. Res* 18(1), 45-51 (1993)

37. Gonzalez-Mora J. L., N. T. Maidment, T. Guadalupe & M. Mas: Post-mortem dopamine dynamics assessed by voltammetry and microdialysis. *Brain Res. Bull* 23(4-5), 323-327 (1989)

38. Masuda T. & Y. Ito: Differential damage by hypoxia to dopamine and serotonin nerve terminals. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun* 193(1), 261-267 (1993)

39. Arnold H. M., J. Fadel, M. Sarter & J. P. Bruno: Amphetamine-stimulated cortical acetylcholine release: role of the basal forebrain. *Brain Res* 894(1), 74-87 (2001)

40. Rebec G. V., S. J. Barton & M. D. Ennis: Dysregulation of ascorbate release in the striatum of behaving mice expressing the Huntington's disease gene. *J. Neurosci* 22(2), RC202(1-5) (2002)

41. Rice M. E.: Ascorbate regulation and its neuroprotective role in the brain. *Trends Neurosci* 23(5), 209-216 (2000)

42. Mo J.-W. & B. Ogorevc: Simultaneous measurement at dopamine and ascorbate at their physiological levels using voltammetric microprobe based on overoxidized poly(1,2-phenylenediamine)-coated carbon fiber. *Anal. Chem* 73(6), 1196-1202 (2001)

43. Hocevar S. B., B. Ogorevc, K. Schachl & K. Kalcher: Glucose microbiosensor based on MnO2 and glucose oxidase modified carbon fiber microelectrode. *Electroanalysis* 16(20), 1711-1716 (2004)

44. Paxinos G. & C. Watson: *The Rat Brain in Stereotaxic Coordinates*. Academic Press, New York (1998)

45. Wong P. T., W. L. Teo & T. Lee: A microdialysis study on striatal dopamine, 5-HT and metabolites in conscious rats after various treatments - evidence for extravesicular release of dopamine. *Neuroreport* 5(1), 53-58 (1993)

Key Words: Overoxidized Poly(1,2-Phenylenediamine), Carbon Fiber, Microelectrode, Dopamine, Serotonin, Ascorbate, *In Vivo*, Brain Voltammetry, Striatum

Send correspondence to: Dr. Bozidar Ogorevc, Analytical Chemistry Laboratory, National Institute of Chemistry, Hajdrihova 19, SI-1001, Ljubljana, Slovenia, Tel: 386 1 4760 230, Fax: 386 1 4760 300, E-mail: bogorevc@ki.si

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol11.htm